

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active.

Nutritional improvement of cereal crops to combat hidden hunger during COVID-19 pandemic: Progress and prospects

Roshan Kumar Singh^a, Annvi Dhaka^a, Mehanathan Muthamilarasan^b, and Manoj Prasad^{a,b,*}

^aNational Institute of Plant Genome Research, New Delhi, India

^bDepartment of Plant Sciences, School of Life Sciences, University of Hyderabad, Hyderabad, Telangana, India *Corresponding author: e-mail address: manoj_prasad@nipgr.ac.in

Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Population structure and genetic base-broadening	3
3.	Genotyping approaches for association mapping	5
4.	High-throughput phenotyping platforms and statistical tools	6
5.	Integrating omics with association mapping	9
6.	Application of association mapping in genetic improvement of nutritional traits	10
	6.1 Protein content	12
	6.2 Carbohydrate and related traits	13
	6.3 Micronutrients	14
	6.4 Secondary metabolites	14
7.	Biofortification using conventional and genomic approaches	15
8.	The way forward	16
Ac	knowledgments	17
Re	ferences	17

1. Introduction

With the increasing global population, it has become more challenging to ensure food and nutrition security for the ever-growing population. Climate change, global warming, reduction in agricultural land, and an ongoing pandemic are the major constraints in the adequate production of agricultural food supply. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), around 47 million children below the age of 5 are wasted globally,

1

from which 14.3 million children are severely affected. Apart from human health and economic crises, pandemics impart severe impact on agricultural productivity and food availability (Mumtaz et al., 2021). The current coronavirus outbreak has further intensified the global hunger index and the already existing nutritional crisis (Muthamilarasan and Prasad, 2021). Therefore, the term nutritional security has come into the context, which needs to be focused on and prioritized on the agenda of plant breeders. Since the major components of nutrients, including carbohydrates, proteins, fats, vitamins, fibers, micro-, and macronutrients, are not produced in the human body, they must absorb from external dietary sources rich in them (Reider et al., 2020). The per-day recommended values of the essential micronutrients like zinc, iron, and vitamin A are 15 mg, 15 mg, and 600 µg, respectively. These nutrients are yet to be fortified in commonly utilized staple crops, including rice and wheat, which contains suboptimal fraction only (Gaikwad et al., 2020; Ram et al., 2020). However, several underutilized cereals, including millets, contain ample micronutrients, vitamins, dietary fibers, micro- and macronutrients that can be supplemented in a diet plan (Dhaka et al., 2021; Shyamli et al., 2021).

Advancements in genetics and genomics studies have led to detecting genes, alleles, and QTLs underlying complex nutritional traits in cereals. These genetic determinants can further be utilized in the breeding program to enhance grain nutritional content. Besides molecular breeding, several biotechnological approaches, including recombinant DNA technologies and targeted genome editing, are also reported to improve cereals' nutritional potential (Singh et al., 2020). During the last decade, the application of linkage disequilibrium (LD) based association mapping (AM), often termed genome-wide association studies (GWAS), has been increased significantly in cereals focusing mainly on nutrient traits (Gupta et al., 2014; Jaiswal et al., 2019). A GWAS in a crop can be performed with two primary purposes: firstly, to dissect marker-trait associations (MTAs) for a given phenotype, and secondly, to identify all the available QTLs, alleles, and interactions among them. The results obtained are an overview of the genetic basis of the trait, and the marker-trait associations which are most auspicious can be recognized and shortlisted for further analysis. MTAs for several nutritionrelated traits have now been carried out in several cereal species. The recent advancements in whole-genome sequencing platforms have also prompted the application of GWAS study with fine resolution (Xiao et al., 2017). Improved computational biology tools have now been generated to extract more meaningful information from genome sequencing data and the

high-throughput phenotypic evaluation of a large number of accessions performed using advanced phenomics platforms. Following MTAs through GWAS, the reverse genetics approach is used to validate the molecular function of identified candidate gene(s). This includes gene silencing through RNA interference (RNAi), retrotransposon-mediated gene disruption, targeted genome editing using CRISPR/Cas9, and variants of CRISPR/Cas technology (Singh et al., 2021). The present chapter discusses the prerequisite genomic resources and various approaches to association mapping. Also, the chapter elaborates on integrating association mapping with multiple omics technologies, applying improvement of nutritional traits, and providing a roadmap for crop improvement.

2. Population structure and genetic base-broadening

Genetic resources in terms of germplasm collection form the base for crop improvement (Fig. 1). The commencement of an association mapping study should begin with gathering all the necessary information about the genotypes that are to be included in it. The selection of germplasms is a critical determinant of a prolific association study (Yu et al., 2006). Prior knowledge regarding genetic diversity, degree of genome-wide LD, and



Fig. 1 Next-generation genomics approaches available for improving the nutritional profile of crops by exploiting genetic diversity.

ARTICLE IN PRESS

population structure in the population are requisite in determining the marker density, mapping resolution, selection of statistical methods for association analysis, and the strength of identified marker-trait associations (Zhu et al., 2008). The association mapping population can be divided into five groups based on population structure and relatedness: (i) ideal sample set with fine population structure and familial relatedness, (ii) multifamily sample set, (iii) sample set with population structure and but without familial relatedness, (iv) sample set consisting both population structure and familial relatedness, and (v) sample set with a strong population structure and familial relatedness. Based on the source of the population, it can be divided into germplasm bank collection, elite germplasm, and synthetic populations (Breseghello and Sorrells, 2006). From the germplasm bank collection, genotypes from the core collection can provide a source of genetic diversity due to the encompassing of a vast allele diversity and a population size that is easy to handle, making it a good source for association studies. The ploidy level should be evaluated of accessions from a plant species whose genetic architecture is unknown, specifically if the composed population comprises wild accessions collected from a germplasm bank. This will reduce the effort to distinguish the effects of functional polymorphisms from allele dosage.

Biparental populations, multiparental populations [nested association mapping (NAM) population, multiparent advanced generation intercross (MAGIC) population, and random-open-parent association mapping (ROAM) population], and breeding populations are already being used for GWAS and linkage studies. Biparental mapping population generated by crossing two contrasting parents. It includes F₂, F_{2:3}, backcross populations, advanced backcross populations, Double haploids population (DH), Near Isogenic Lines (NILs), and Recombinant Inbred Lines (RILs). The biparental population possesses a lower level of allelic variations and segregates only for a limited number of traits (Tripodi, 2021). The selection of any of these populations depends on the nature of the breeding system (inbred vs outbred) of particular crop species; for example, a multiparental population such as NAM is applicable for the cross-pollinated species like maize but may not be as suitable for an autogamous species. Various variants of the NAM population, including backcross NAM (BC-NAM), doubled haploid NAM (DH-NAM), and advanced backcross NAM (AB-NAM), have also been generated for crop plants (Li et al., 2016; Nice et al., 2016). It was suggested that a multiple-hybrid population (MHP) could also be applied for cross-pollinated species than the biparental or multiparental population (Wang et al., 2017). A comparative analysis of different mapping populations used for the GWAS analysis is illustrated in Table 1.

Features	Biparental mapping	NAM	MAGIC
Number of parents involved	2	>2	8
Mapping resolution	Low	High	High
Power of mapping	High	High	Moderate
Recombination derived LD	Yes	Yes	Yes
Historical LD	No	Yes	Yes
Chance to detect rare QTLs	High	High	Moderate
Multiple alleles detection	Yes	Yes	Up to 2 alleles
Genetic base and parental diversity	Narrow	Board	Moderate

 Table 1 Comparative analysis of mapping populations used for GWAS study in plants.

 Features
 Biparental mapping
 NAM
 MAGIC

3. Genotyping approaches for association mapping

DNA markers are utilized to analyze linkage maps, association studies, quantitative trait loci (QTL) findings, and marker-assisted selection (MAS) in crops. Before the next-generation sequencing (NGS) era, the digestionbased markers such as Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD), Simple Sequence Repeats (SSRs), and Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphisms (AFLPs). Advancement in NGS technology has enhanced computational capabilities. The introduction of new rapid genotyping technologies in the past decade has prompted the identification of highthroughput heritable genomic markers for most essential crops. This has illuminated the path of discovering causal genetic polymorphic factors for any phenotype. The application of large numbers of high-throughput genotypic markers within the entire set of the population has shifted the population genomics to the level of pangenome genetics. This allows the generation of several types of structural marker systems, including copy number variations (CNVs), presence/absence variations (PAVs), insertion-site-based polymorphisms (ISBPs), InDels, transposons, and epigenetic variations.

NGS technology is primarily based on large-scale parallel sequencing and imaging methods to produce as large as 100 billion bases in a single run (van Dijk et al., 2018). Several advanced platforms are available for NGS technology, including the Roche 454 FLX Titanium, Ion Torrent PGM, Illumina MiSeq, and HiSeq2500. Most of these platforms efficiently generate dependable DNA sequences and show high coverage on average, GC-rich, and a modest level of AT ratio in the genome. However, these factors affect the quality of the results generated and the application in which it has to be utilized. The amount of genotypic data generated through these platforms often creates analytical and statistical challenges, requiring a suitable computational program for accurate analysis. There is an affluence of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) due to the advancements of NGS techniques, and hence these have become the most extensively exploited markers for association studies. The identification and genotyping of SNPs at whole-genome levels in a given set of the population is known as genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS). GBS has rapidly gained popularity because of its comparatively low cost, even in the species lacking the reference genome sequence (Scheben et al., 2017). This technique detects nucleotide sequences and scores SNPs simultaneously, which surpasses the DNA marker development procedure.

4. High-throughput phenotyping platforms and statistical tools

Along with genotyping, phenotyping is another crucial factor that decides the fate of a successful association study. Accurate phenotyping is an extensively distributed and arduous step that requires large-scale management and quantification of plants. It involves maintaining hundreds or thousands of plants grown at different geographical locations in diverse environments over multiple years. The data obtained from these experiments is utilized in studies conducted to delineate factors governing stress, yield, quality, and nutritional aspects in crops. There have been rapid advancements in genotyping facilities; however, phenotyping technologies have not been developed to that extent and consume much more time and employees. The experimental field design is a critical parameter for an efficient association study. The data generated from an adequately designed field experiment will be more reliable, and statistical deductions will be more. The foundation of a reliable experimental design depends on the size of the experimental unit, replication, blocking, and randomization (Casler, 2015). Other factors are to be considered while carrying out phenotypic analysis, including photoperiod sensitivity, flowering time, pathogen susceptibility, water, and fertilizer applications.

High-throughput phenotyping (HTP) methods can provide precise and rapid results for a large set of accessions. It is generally known as phenomics, and it utilizes automated technologies to measure phenotypic traits (Rafalski, 2010). However, not all phenotypic traits can be visually evaluated and thus create a genotype-phenotype bottleneck. Nevertheless, image-based phenomics provides a promising platform for the visually scored traits to record the dynamic changes occurring throughout the experiment. Examples for some of the existing phenomics platforms are International Plant Phenomics Network (IPPN), European Plant Phenotyping Network (EPPN), Australian Plant Phenomics Facility, French Plant Phenomics Network (FPPN), German Plant Phenotyping Network (DPPN), High-Throughput Rice Phenotyping Facility (HRPF), Green Crop Network (GCN), Biotron Experimental Climate Change Research Facility, Laboratory of Plant Ecophysiological responses to Environmental Stresses (LEPSE), The Australian Plant Phenomics Facility, and LeasyScan at ICRISAT (Knecht et al., 2016). These noninvasive HTP platforms utilize advanced technologies including infrared thermography and imagery, fluorescent spectroscopy, 3D reconstruction, light detection and ranging (LIDAR), magnetic resonance imaging, positron emission tomography, canopy spectral reflectance, nuclear magnetic resonance, hyperspectral imaging, and digital RGB imaging for the measurement and assessment of various traits like plant growth, structure, water relations and other dynamic attributes (Mir et al., 2019). This whole process generates largescale data and thus requires its systematic storage, management, and retrieval. New methods of data mining and machine learning can provide valuable assistance in managing large datasets. HTP has been used in many crop studies. Campbell et al. (2015) used temporal imaging in 378 diverse rice lines to understand the factors behind salinity-induced growth in plants. Further, a greenhouse-based HTP platform helped assess water usage and projected shoot area in 357 rice genotypes (Baba et al., 2020). The genetic information combined with HTP data can provide more depth in genotype-trait association analysis.

Several software are available to carry out association mapping, and new methodologies and programs keep developing for the same. The frequently used software package for plants is Trait Analysis by aSSociation, Evolution, and Linkage (TASSEL). It provides a user-friendly interface and gets updated with new methods and features (Bradbury et al., 2007). Other software, including R, STRUCTURE, Genome Association and Prediction Integrated Tool (GAPIT), Spatial Pattern Analysis of Genetic Diversity (SPAGeDi), and others along with their applications related to association studies are listed in Table 2.

Software package	Focus	Remarks	Website
TASSEL (Trait Analysis by aSSociation, Evolution and Linkage)	Association analysis	Freely available. It calculates marker-traits associations, evolutionary relationships, and linkage disequilibrium	https://www. maizegenetics. net/tassel
R	General	Freely available for statistical computing and graphics	http://www. r-project.org/
STRUCTURE	Population structure	Widely used and freely available for evaluating population structure analysis	https://web. stanford.edu/ group/ pritchardlab/ structure.html
GAPIT (Genome Association and Prediction Integrated Tool)	Association analysis	Widely used and freely available for GWAS and Genomic Selection (GS). Methods used are Q+K, CMLM, FarmCPU and BLINK	http://www.zzlab. net/GAPIT/
SAS (Statistical Analysis System)	General	Used for data mining, statistical analysis and simulation	http://www.sas. com
SPAGeDi (Spatial Pattern Analysis of Genetic Diversity)	Population relatedness	Freely available for characterizing spatial genetic structure of mapped population	http://ebe.ulb.ac. be/ebe/ SPAGeDi.html
GenAlEx	Population relatedness	Runs within Microsoft Excel and provides both frequency-based and distance-based analyses	https:// biology-assets. anu.edu.au/ GenAlEx/ Welcome.html
Matapax (MArker-Trait Association Platform And eXplorer)	Association analysis	Web-based freely available program that utilizes R library EMMA and GAPIT	http://matapax. mpimp-golm. mpg.de/
GenAMap	Association analysis	Freely available. Visual analytics system for structured association mapping	http://sailing.cs. cmu.edu/ genamap

 Table 2 List of software used in association mapping analysis.

Software package	Focus	Remarks	Website
Pascal (Pathway scoring algorithm)	Enrichment analysis	Computes gene and pathway scores from marker-trait association statistics	https://www2. unil.ch/cbg/ index.php? title=Pascal
NAM (Nested Association Mapping)	Association analysis	Designed to carry out association studies in NAM populations through likelihood and Bayesian methods	https://cran. r-project.org/ web/packages/ NAM/index.html
SNPEVG	Visualization tool	Graphical tool for visualization of SNP effects in GWAS	https:// animalgene.umn. edu/snpevg
EMMAX (Efficient Mixed-Model Association eXpedited)	Association analysis	Utilize variance component model for considering sample structure in association mapping	http://genetics.cs. ucla.edu/emmax/
PLINK	Association analysis	Open source tool that can handle large datasets	http://zzz.bwh. harvard.edu/ plink/
HaploView	Haplotype analysis	User friendly tool for analysis and visualization of LD haplotype maps	https://www. broadinstitute. org/haploview/ haploview

Table 2 List of softw	are used ir	n association mapping	analysis.—cont'd
Software package	Focus	Remarks	Websi

5. Integrating omics with association mapping

Other than genomics, different omics approaches, including transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics, are also essential to understanding gene function. An integrated omics approach can be employed together with association mapping studies to decipher the underlying mechanism of phenotype variation. Global transcriptome analysis is used to determine the transcripts abundance, comparative variation in gene expression, and epigenetic silencing (Singh et al., 2021). With the advancements in NGS technology, RNA-Seq based expression analysis has been available for many crop plants. Unlike genome sequencing, RNA-Seq is not largely affected by the organism's ploidy or large genome complexity. By analyzing the transcript sequence of a large number of accessions, SNP associated with genic regions can be analyzed. Thus, it can be utilized to conduct a GWAS study to delineate the effect of the difference in gene and regulatory sequence on desirable traits. The significant advantage of a transcriptome-wide association study (TWAS) is its applicability to crops with limited genomic resources. Several TWAS has been carried out in various crops, including rapeseed (Tang et al., 2021), maize (Jia et al., 2020; Kremling et al., 2019), rice (Anacleto et al., 2019), barley (Sharma Poudel et al., 2019), and others. The integrated use of GWAS and transcriptome data is much more reliable evidence of the association of genic regions to the desirable trait. Similarly, metabolite-based GWAS, often called mGWAS, is a recently emerging area and gaining popularity as metabolites directly affect plant phenotype. Considering the relative accumulation of a specific metabolite in the accessions of a population as trait, mGWAS can be performed. The major platforms used for the separation, detection, characterization, and quantification of metabolites are based on chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry or nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy. Metabolome profiling integrated with advanced genomics to elucidate the genomic loci controlling natural diversity in the abundance of specific metabolites. Several such studies have been carried out in various crop species, including wheat (Chen et al., 2020; Shi et al., 2020), maize (Zhou et al., 2019), rice (Matsuda et al., 2015), and others. These studies suggest that the metabolites can bridge genotype and phenotype for a specific trait. The integrative approach consisting of GBS, metabolic profiling, and transcriptome analysis can provide an in-depth mechanism behind the cause of natural variation in a given population. Fig. 2 briefly illustrates the strategies of integrating omics with association mapping and further crop improvement through marker-assisted breeding (MAB).

6. Application of association mapping in genetic improvement of nutritional traits

Association mapping has primarily been used for exploring polymorphisms governing variations in the desired trait in cereals. There are many studies reported where association mapping has been applied in determining genetic regulators of agronomic and physiological traits in various crops (Dang et al., 2014; Kikuchi et al., 2017; Maurer et al., 2016; Melandri et al., 2020; Pauli et al., 2014; Sahoo et al., 2020; Setter et al., 2011;



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of the steps involved in association analysis and integration of various omics approaches.

Tian et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2014). In this section, we have focused on applying association mapping in delineating nutritional traits in cereal crops.

6.1 Protein content

A minicore collection was selected from the rice global population collection of the US Department of Agriculture (USDA). Through association mapping, variation in protein content (5.4-11.9%) helped identifying eight nucleotide markers that were linked with genes of protein precursors (Bryant et al., 2013). Laidò et al. (2014) selected 970 polymorphic DArT markers for marker-phenotypes association analysis in 230 inbred wheat lines. The generalized linear model (GLM) and mixed linear model (MLM) approach of association mapping identified 44 MTAs for protein content that identified 39 putative QTLs. From these QTLs, one was determined to be significantly linked to the Gpc-B1 gene. This gene plays an essential role in determining protein content in both tetraploid and hexaploid wheat. This gene is translated into a NAC-domain transcription factor that increases the rate of senescence, which culminates in the increased mobilization of nitrogen into the grain. In another study, a diverse panel of 390 sorghum accessions was evaluated for variation in grain nutritional traits, including starch, protein, and fat content. Using near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS), protein content was measured that fell in the range of 8.1-18.8% and identified a QTL through GWAS analysis (Rhodes et al., 2017). Besides the grain content, protein quality is also an essential factor determining essential amino acid content and protein digestibility. Out of the 20 amino acids, 9 are regarded as essential amino acids as the human body cannot synthesize them and hence are to supplemented through diet. These include lysine, tryptophan, threonine, methionine, phenylalanine, isoleucine, leucine, valine, and histidine. In cereals, the amino acids lysine, threonine, and tryptophan are present in a limiting amount, and therefore, studies have been conducted to biofortify their amount. Opaque2 *modifiers* (*Opm*) gene belongs to bZIP transcription factor family and has a role in regulating tryptophan content in grains. A total of 74 genic and 46 genomic SSR markers were used in association mapping to identify QTLs tightly linked to Opm variation in tryptophan content. The study has led to the identification of two QTLs linked to tryptophan content and a QTL for total protein content (Babu et al., 2014). Protein content in barley grain is crucial for determining its quality when used for malt and food applications. Genetic determinants governing protein grain contents in 99 wild and 59 cultivated

barley have been identified, and markers generated through diversity arrays technology (DArT) were used for association mapping. From the associated 5, 7, 6, 5, 6, and 8 markers that were localized on the 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, and 7 chromosomes, respectively, *HvNAM1* and *HvNAM2* were selected as candidate genes for further protein content improvement (Cai et al., 2013).

6.2 Carbohydrate and related traits

The chief carbohydrate component in cereal grains is starch, which is also the primary energy source for humankind. Apart from starch, cereal grains also contain nonstarch polysaccharides like arabinoxylans and β -glucans. β-Glucans are sometimes considered antinutritional factors due to hindrance in absorption (Rudi et al., 2006). However, their functions as an immunomodulator, serum cholesterol reducer, and prebiotic effect have attracted attention. MTAs for β -glucan content in 230 tetraploid wheat genotypes utilizing SNPs retrieved from the 90k-iSelect array were generated. This led to the identification of potential candidate genes that might have a role in regulating β -glucan content in grains through carbon partitioning (Marcotuli et al., 2016). The identified putative genes were glycosyl hydrolases endo- β -(1,4)-glucanase, (1,4)- β -xylan endohydrolase, and xylanase inhibitor protein I. To unfold genomic regions governing protein content and cooking quality parameters in rice, Wang et al. (2017) have selected an association panel of 22,488 SNPs from 258 diverse rice accessions. Association studies had led to the determination of 19 QTLs regulating the 4 characters, including gel consistency, gelatinization temperature, apparent amylose content, and protein content. These 19 QTLs were linked to genes of the starch synthesis pathway. In another study, a diverse panel of 591 landraces constituting 2.9 billion SNP and 0.39 billion InDels were investigated to discover regions governing grain width of raw and cooked rice grain. Novel GWi7.1, GL3.1, GWi5.1, and GWi11.1 genomic regions were identified, controlling the desired trait (Misra et al., 2017). Further, to identify genetic determinants for amylose content in maize, Li et al. (2018) used a collection of 464 maize varieties incorporating 9 million SNPs markers. The GWAS study led to identifying 39 putative genes having a role as transcription factors, glycosidases, glycosyltransferases, and hydrolases that might regulate the amylose content in grains. Glycemic index (GI) is an essential nutritional trait, and to discern its genetic regulators, an association panel of 305 diverse resequenced Indica accessions was explored. Combined with a transcriptome-wide association study (TWAS), GWAS indicated a

novel factor ascertained at locus LOC_Os05g03600 responsible for the variation in the desired trait (Anacleto et al., 2019).

6.3 Micronutrients

A total of 17,937 SNP markers have been used for 246 wheat genotypes to identify markers associated with micronutrients like zinc, iron, and beta-carotene and grain protein content (Kumar et al., 2018). Several marker-trait associations were identified using SLST, MLMM, MTMM, and mvLMM methods, from which nine highly associated and significant MTAs were selected for further investigation. For calcium content in wheat, MTAs were carried out using 7761 SNP generated from 90k iSELECT ILLUMINA chip and 7762 mapped SNPs from a 35k Affymetrix chip (Alomari et al., 2017). In total, 276 SNPs with positive allele effect led to identifying candidate genes located in the proximity of associated SNPs, which participate in transport and uptake of calcium. In barley, a set of 336 genotypes utilizing 6519 SNP markers, GWAS resulted in the identification of 2 QTLs to be associated with calcium, 2 with barium, 3 with sulfur, 4 with sodium, 4 with copper, 11 with iron, 2 with potassium, 3 with magnesium, and 3 with zinc (Gyawali et al., 2017). In the case of millets, 74 marker-trait associations were identified in foxtail millet for 10 micronutrients (Ni, K, Ca, B, Mg, P, S, Zn, Mn, and Fe) using an association panel of 96 diverse accessions and 10k SNPs generated through resequencing (Jaiswal et al., 2019). Further, Puranik et al. (2020) utilized an association panel of 190 finger millet genotypes to identify MTAs for micronutrients like iron, zinc, calcium, magnesium, potassium, and sodium, along with protein content. Through GLM and MLM approach, 34 high confidence MTAs were identified, from which 18 markers were found to be linked with genes having a role in the binding and movement of metal ions.

6.4 Secondary metabolites

Polyphenols are compounds imparting antioxidant benefits to the human body. In sorghum, phenols, proanthocyanidins, and 3-deoxyanthocyanidins contents were studied in a panel of 381 accessions. Utilizing 404,628 SNPs for GWAS analysis, novel QTLs were detected that contained homologs of Pr1 and TT16 (Rhodes et al., 2014). An interesting study conducted by Colasuonno et al. (2017) identified 24 candidate genes for the carotenoid synthesis pathway, a precursor in the synthesis of precursors of vitamin A. The identified QTLs and genes might provide an insight into the development of advanced high nutritional wheat varieties. Noteworthy, maize grains are limited in tocopherols, with vitamin E activity. Through the GWAS study, an SNP marker was mapped 85 kb upstream to a *Zea mays* VTE4, which codes for a γ -tocopherol methyltransferase. Additionally, two InDels markers were also found to be associated, out of which one was located to the promoter area and possibly regulating transcriptionally (Li et al., 2012). The candidate-gene approach of GWAS lycopene epsilon cyclase (LCYE) and β -carotene hydroxylase 1 (CRTRB1) had already been identified in the maize breeding scheme of CIMMYT. Further, high density 476,000 SNPs assisted in identifying genomic regions possessing a salient role in accumulating precursors of isoprenoids, namely, GGPS1, GGPS2, and DXS1. Also, genes like *HYD5*, *CCD1*, and *ZEP1*, responsible for hydroxylation and carotenoid degradation, were identified (Suwarno et al., 2015).

7. Biofortification using conventional and genomic approaches

Biofortification aims to improve the nutritional qualities of a crop plant. Both the conventional breeding and recent genomics approaches have been successfully applied in the biofortification of cereal crops. The conventional approach mainly includes mineral fertilization through soil or foliar application and crossing contrasting parents to obtain desired progenies with improved nutrient bioavailability. The genomics approach initiates with genotyping of the population to identify genomic determinants responsible for improved nutritional traits and completes with introgression to the elite species either through molecular breeding or genetic engineering/genome editing to get desired lines (Singh et al., 2020). To eradicate micronutrient deficiency, HarvestPlus biofortification program has floated since the early 2000s employing conventional breeding and genomics approaches. More than 240 crops with improved iron, zinc, and vitamin A have been released under the program, and several are in the delivery phase (https://www. harvestplus.org/knowledge-market/publications). In India, research was mainly focused on developing zinc and iron-enriched crops and, to date, has been able to release zinc fortified wheat varieties, BHU-6 (Chitra) and BHU-3; and iron-enriched pearl millet varieties including ICMH 1201 (Shakti-1201) and ICTP 8203-Fe-10-2 (Dhanashakti). The program had set a target of reaching more than 1 billion people with a supply of biofortified crops to combat hidden hunger by 2030.

Through overexpression, silencing, and gene editing, the functional genomics approach is a rapid and widely utilized strategy to generate biofortified crop plants. Provitamin A enriched wheat plants have been generated by introducing bacterial carotenoid biosynthetic genes CtrB and ctrl (Wang et al., 2014). Similarly, lysine rice grains have been achieved by induced expression of endogenous rice lysine-rich histone proteins, RLRH1 and RLRH2 (Wong et al., 2015). In contrast to biofortification, bioelimination is also essential to reduce antinutrient substances from food grains. Phytic acid is one of such antinutrient in cereals that has the ability to chelate micronutrients and restrict the bioavailability of essential nutrients. Targeted silencing of inositol pentakisphosphate kinase (TaIPK1), a gene involved in the phytic acid biosynthesis pathway, has resulted in up to 58% reduced accumulation of phytic acid with enhanced grain mineral contents in wheat (Aggarwal et al., 2018). Similarly, CRISPR/Cas9-mediated knockdown of Inositol 1,3,4-trisphosphate 5/6-kinase (OsITPK1-6) has significantly lowered the levels of phytic acid in rice (Jiang et al., 2019). These studies further need to be expanded to millets and other cereals crops where phytic acid is a major nutritional constraint.

8. The way forward

Food scarcity and disease outbreaks have coexisted with us since the beginning of human evolution. Similar to the previous pandemics, COVID-19 pandemics have posed an intense threat to the food supply around various parts of the world. The majority of the human population is following social distancing, which has reduced the efficiency of enterprises and risks the farmers wealth. The other most important aspect of this pandemic is the vulnerability of marginal people, which require a high nutritious diet during infection and recovery. Since cereals share more than half of total food consumption worldwide, fortification of nutritional traits in them would be the prime concern of crop breeders.

The significance of improving nutritional traits in cereals is well understood, and multidimensional approaches are being used to address this. Undoubtedly, the association mapping approach has been beneficial in finding QTLs and genomic regions associated with nutritional traits in plants. During the last decade, remarkable advancements have been achieved in GWAS. However, there is a need for further advancements for more efficient use of the approach. Along with several advantages of association mapping, some restrictions still exist. One such limitation is the reproducibility

ARTICLE IN PRESS

of the identified regions when the same association study is repeated. Another limitation is the occurrence of false positives and false negatives data. The risk of false positive occurs due to a strong association of the studied trait with population structure. To minimize this, it has been suggested to use the STRUCTURE program that utilizes structured associations. Further, incorporating principal component analysis (PCA) is also recommended to resolve issues related to population structure. When largescale genetic markers are used, the errors in false associations increase, which requires the validation of MTAs distinctively. GWAS analysis identifies only the genomic locus associated with the desirable trait and does not identify the gene(s) responsible for phenotypic polymorphism. Genes flanking to the identified regions need further investigation to establish the gene-trait association. Integration of data from various omics is also being suggested for exploring the molecular mechanisms behind genotype-phenotype relationships. Many studies have been conducted in recent years to explore the genetic determinants governing nutrition-related traits in various crops; however, there is a need to increase further the number of studies in the area of cereal nutritional traits under the present scenario of the global pandemic and food scarcity. NGS technologies can be utilized in the generation of more detailed whole-genome scans. Still, high-throughput phenotyping platforms are not in the reach of most of the breeders. An efficient association mapping largely depends on the size of the population, standard of the genotyping and phenotyping, statistical methods used, and experimental validation of MTA. Altogether, association mapping provides a highthroughput platform to uncover the cause of phenotypic variation, which is widely used in crop improvement through molecular breeding. These studies can be combined with functional genomic approaches to generate more and more biofortified cereal crops targeting to achieve zero hunger.

Acknowledgments

Authors' work in the area of nutritional genomics is supported by the Core Grant of the National Institute of Plant Genome Research, New Delhi, India.

References

Aggarwal, S., Kumar, A., Bhati, K.K., Kaur, G., Shukla, V., Tiwari, S., Pandey, A.K., 2018. RNAi-mediated downregulation of inositol pentakisphosphate kinase (IPK1) in wheat grains decreases phytic acid levels and increases Fe and Zn accumulation. Front. Plant Sci. 9, 259. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00259.

- Alomari, D.Z., Eggert, K., von Wirén, N., Pillen, K., Röder, M.S., 2017. Genome-wide association study of calcium accumulation in grains of European wheat cultivars. Front. Plant Sci. 8, 1797. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01797.
- Anacleto, R., Badoni, S., Parween, S., et al., 2019. Integrating a genome-wide association study with a large-scale transcriptome analysis to predict genetic regions influencing the glycaemic index and texture in rice. Plant Biotechnol. J. 17, 1261–1275. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/pbi.13051.
- Baba, T., Momen, M., Campbell, M.T., Walia, H., Morota, G., 2020. Multi-trait random regression models increase genomic prediction accuracy for a temporal physiological trait derived from high-throughput phenotyping. PLoS One 15, e0228118. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0228118.
- Babu, B.K., Agrawal, P.K., Pandey, D., et al., 2014. Comparative genomics and association mapping approaches for opaque2 modifier genes in finger millet accessions using genic, genomic and candidate gene-based simple sequence repeat markers. Mol. Breed. 34, 1261–1279. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11032-014-0115-2.
- Bradbury, P.J., Zhang, Z., Kroon, D.E., Casstevens, T.M., Ramdoss, Y., Buckler, E.S., 2007. TASSEL: software for association mapping of complex traits in diverse samples. Bioinformatics 23, 2633–2635. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btm308.
- Breseghello, F., Sorrells, M.E., 2006. Association analysis as a strategy for improvement of quantitative traits in plants. Crop Sci. 46, 1323–1330. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci 2005.09-0305.
- Bryant, R.J., Jackson, A.K., Yeater, K.M., Yan, W., Mcclung, A.M., Fjellstrom, R.G., 2013. Genetic variation and association mapping of protein concentration in brown rice using a diverse rice germplasm collection. Cereal Chem. 90, 445–452. https://doi.org/10.1094/ CCHEM-09-12-0122-R.
- Cai, S., Yu, G., Chen, X., Huang, Y., Jiang, X., Zhang, G., Jin, X., 2013. Grain protein content variation and its association analysis in barley. BMC Plant Biol. 13, 35. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-13-35.
- Campbell, M.T., Knecht, A.C., Berger, B., Brien, C.J., Wang, D., Walia, H., 2015. Integrating image-based phenomics and association analysis to dissect the genetic architecture of temporal salinity responses in rice. Plant Physiol. 168, 1476–1489. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.15.00450.
- Casler, M.D., 2015. Fundamentals of experimental design: guidelines for designing successful experiments. Agron. J. 107, 692–705. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2013.0114.
- Chen, J., Hu, X., Shi, T., Yin, H., Sun, D., Hao, Y., Xia, X., Luo, J., Fernie, A.R., He, Z., Chen, W., 2020. Metabolite-based genome-wide association study enables dissection of the flavonoid decoration pathway of wheat kernels. Plant Biotechnol. J. 18, 1722–1735. https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.13335.
- Colasuonno, P., Lozito, M.L., Marcotuli, I., et al., 2017. The carotenoid biosynthetic and catabolic genes in wheat and their association with yellow pigments. BMC Genomics 18, 122. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-016-3395-6.
- Dang, X., Thi, T.G., Dong, G., Wang, H., Edzesi, W.M., Hong, D., 2014. Genetic diversity and association mapping of seed vigor in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Planta 239, 1309–1319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-014-2060-z.
- Dhaka, A., Singh, R.K., Muthamilarasan, M., Prasad, M., 2021. Genetics and genomics interventions for promoting millets as functional foods. Curr. Genomics 22, 1. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389202922666210225084212.
- Gaikwad, K.B., Rani, S., Kumar, M., Gupta, V., Babu, P.H., Bainsla, N.K., Yadav, R., 2020. Enhancing the nutritional quality of major food crops through conventional and genomics-assisted breeding. Front. Nutr. 7, 533453. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnut.2020.533453.

- Gupta, S., Kumari, K., Muthamilarasan, M., Parida, S.K., Prasad, M., 2014. Population structure and association mapping of yield contributing agronomic traits in foxtail millet. Plant Cell Rep. 33, 881–893. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00299-014-1564-0.
- Gyawali, S., Otte, M.L., Chao, S., Jilal, A., Jacob, D.L., Amezrou, R., Verma, R.P.S., 2017. Genome wide association studies (GWAS) of element contents in grain with a special focus on zinc and iron in a world collection of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). J. Cereal Sci. 77, 266–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2017.08.019.
- Jaiswal, V., Gupta, S., Gahlaut, V., Muthamilarasan, M., Bandyopadhyay, T., Ramchiary, N., Prasad, M., 2019. Genome-wide association study of major agronomic traits in foxtail millet (*Setaria italica* L.) using ddRAD sequencing. Sci. Rep. 9, 5020. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-41602-6.
- Jia, T., Wang, L., Li, J., Ma, J., Cao, Y., Lübberstedt, T., Li, H., 2020. Integrating a genome-wide association study with transcriptomic analysis to detect genes controlling grain drying rate in maize (*Zea may*, L.). Theor. Appl. Genet. 133, 623–634. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00122-019-03492-0.
- Jiang, M., Liu, Y., Liu, Y., Tan, Y., Huang, J., Shu, Q., 2019. Mutation of inositol 1,3,4-trisphosphate 5/6-kinase6 impairs plant growth and phytic acid synthesis in rice. Plants (Basel) 8, 114. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants8050114.
- Kikuchi, S., Bheemanahalli, R., Jagadish, K., Kumagai, E., Masuya, Y., Kuroda, E., Raghavan, C., Dingkuhn, M., Abe, A., Shimono, H., 2017. Genome-wide association mapping for phenotypic plasticity in rice. Plant Cell Environ. 40, 1565–1575. https:// doi.org/10.1111/pce.12955.
- Knecht, A.C., Campbell, M.T., Caprez, A., Swanson, D.R., Walia, H., 2016. Image Harvest: an open-source platform for high-throughput plant image processing and analysis. J. Exp. Bot. 67, 3587–3599. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erw176.
- Kremling, K., Diepenbrock, C.H., Gore, M.A., Buckler, E.S., Bandillo, N.B., 2019. Transcriptome-wide association supplements genome-wide association in Zea mays. G3 (Bethesda) 9, 3023–3033. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.119.400549.
- Kumar, J., Saripalli, G., Gahlaut, V., et al., 2018. Genetics of Fe, Zn, β-carotene, GPC and yield traits in bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) using multi-locus and multi-traits GWAS. Euphytica 214, 219. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-018-2284-2.
- Laidò, G., Marone, D., Russo, M.A., Colecchia, S.A., Mastrangelo, A.M., De Vita, P., Papa, R., 2014. Linkage disequilibrium and genome-wide association mapping in tetraploid wheat (*Triticum turgidum* L.). PLoS One 9, e95211. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0095211.
- Li, Q., Yang, X., Xu, S., Cai, Y., Zhang, D., Han, Y., Li, L., Zhang, Z., Gao, S., Li, J., Yan, J., 2012. Genome-wide association studies identified three independent polymorphisms associated with α-tocopherol content in maize kernels. PLoS One 7, e36807. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036807.
- Li, J., Bus, A., Spamer, V., Stich, B., 2016. Comparison of statistical models for nested association mapping in rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.) through computer simulations. BMC Plant Biol. 16, 26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-016-0707-6.
- Li, C., Huang, Y., Huang, R., Wu, Y., Wang, W., 2018. The genetic architecture of amylose biosynthesis in maize kernel. Plant Biotechnol. J. 16, 688–695. https://doi.org/10.1111/ pbi.12821.
- Marcotuli, I., Houston, K., Schwerdt, J.G., Waugh, R., Fincher, G.B., Burton, R.A., Blanco, A., Gadaleta, A., 2016. Genetic diversity and genome wide association study of β-glucan content in tetraploid wheat grains. PLoS One 11, e0152590. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0152590.
- Matsuda, F., Nakabayashi, R., Yang, Z., Okazaki, Y., Yonemaru, J., Ebana, K., Yano, M., Saito, K., 2015. Metabolome-genome-wide association study dissects genetic

architecture for generating natural variation in rice secondary metabolism. Plant J. 81, 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.12681.

- Maurer, A., Draba, V., Pillen, K., 2016. Genomic dissection of plant development and its impact on thousand grain weight in barley through nested association mapping. J. Exp. Bot. 67, 2507–2518. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erw070.
- Melandri, G., Prashar, A., McCouch, S.R., van der Linden, G., Jones, H.G., Kadam, N., Jagadish, K., Bouwmeester, H., Ruyter-Spira, C., 2020. Association mapping and genetic dissection of drought-induced canopy temperature differences in rice. J. Exp. Bot. 71, 1614–1627. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erz527.
- Mir, R.R., Reynolds, M., Pinto, F., Khan, M.A., Bhat, M.A., 2019. High-throughput phenotyping for crop improvement in the genomics era. Plant Sci. 282, 60–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2019.01.007.
- Misra, G., Badoni, S., Anacleto, R., Graner, A., Alexandrov, N., Sreenivasulu, N., 2017. Whole genome sequencing-based association study to unravel genetic architecture of cooked grain width and length traits in rice. Sci. Rep. 7, 12478. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-017-12778-6.
- Mumtaz, M., Hussain, N., Baqar, Z., Anwar, S., Bilal, M., 2021. Deciphering the impact of novel coronavirus pandemic on agricultural sustainability, food security, and socio-economic sectors—a review. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11356-021-15728-y.
- Muthamilarasan, M., Prasad, M., 2021. Small millets for enduring food security amidst pandemics. Trends Plant Sci. 26, 33–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2020.08.008.
- Nice, L.M., Steffenson, B.J., Brown-Guedira, G.L., et al., 2016. Development and genetic characterization of an advanced backcross-nested association mapping (AB-NAM) population of wild × cultivated barley. Genetics 203, 1453–1467. https://doi.org/10.1534/ genetics.116.190736.
- Pauli, D., Muehlbauer, G.J., Smith, K.P., Cooper, B., Hole, D., Obert, D.E., Ullrich, S.E., Blake, T.K., 2014. Association mapping of agronomic QTLs in U.S. spring barley breeding germplasm. Plant Genome 7, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3835/plantgenome2013.11. 0037.
- Puranik, S., Sahu, P.P., Beynon, S., Srivastava, R.K., Sehgal, D., Ojulong, H., Yadav, R., 2020. Genome-wide association mapping and comparative genomics identifies genomic regions governing grain nutritional traits in finger millet (*Eleusine coracana* L. Gaertn.). Plants People Planet 2, 649–662. https://doi.org/10.1002/ppp3.10120.
- Rafalski, J.A., 2010. Association genetics in crop improvement. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 13, 174–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2009.12.004.
- Ram, H., Gandass, N., Sharma, A., Singh, A., Sonah, H., Deshmukh, R., Pandey, A.K., Sharma, T.R., 2020. Spatio-temporal distribution of micronutrients in rice grains and its regulation. Crit. Rev. Biotechnol. 40, 490–507. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388551. 2020.1742647.
- Reider, C.A., Chung, R.Y., Devarshi, P.P., Grant, R.W., Hazels Mitmesser, S., 2020. Inadequacy of immune health nutrients: intakes in US adults, the 2005-2016 NHANES. Nutrients 12, 1735. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12061735.
- Rhodes, D.H., Hoffmann Jr., L., Rooney, W.L., Ramu, P., Morris, G.P., Kresovich, S., 2014. Genome-wide association study of grain polyphenol concentrations in global sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] germplasm. J. Agric. Food Chem. 62, 10916–10927. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf503651t.
- Rhodes, D.H., Hoffmann Jr., L., Rooney, W.L., Herald, T.J., Bean, S., Boyles, R., Brenton, Z.W., Kresovich, S., 2017. Genetic architecture of kernel composition in global sorghum germplasm. BMC Genomics 18, 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-016-3403-x.

- Rudi, H., Uhlen, A.K., Harstad, O.M., Munck, L., 2006. Genetic variability in cereal carbohydrate compositions and potentials for improving nutritional value. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 130, 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2006.01.017.
- Sahoo, S., Sanghamitra, P., Nanda, N., Pawar, S., Pandit, E., Bastia, R., Muduli, K.C., Pradhan, S.K., 2020. Association of molecular markers with physio-biochemical traits related to seed vigour in rice. Physiol. Mol. Biol. Plants 26, 1989–2003. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12298-020-00879-y.
- Scheben, A., Batley, J., Edwards, D., 2017. Genotyping-by-sequencing approaches to characterize crop genomes: choosing the right tool for the right application. Plant Biotechnol. J. 15, 149–161. https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.12645.
- Setter, T.L., Yan, J., Warburton, M., Ribaut, J.M., Xu, Y., Sawkins, M., Buckler, E.S., Zhang, Z., Gore, M.A., 2011. Genetic association mapping identifies single nucleotide polymorphisms in genes that affect abscisic acid levels in maize floral tissues during drought. J. Exp. Bot. 62, 701–716. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erq308.
- Sharma Poudel, R., Richards, J., Shrestha, S., Solanki, S., Brueggeman, R., 2019. Transcriptome-wide association study identifies putative elicitors/suppressor of *Puccinia graminis* f. sp. tritici that modulate barley rpg4-mediated stem rust resistance. BMC Genomics 20, 985. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-019-6369-7.
- Shi, T., Zhu, A., Jia, J., Hu, X., Chen, J., Liu, W., Ren, X., Sun, D., Fernie, A.R., Cui, F., Chen, W., 2020. Metabolomics analysis and metabolite-agronomic trait associations using kernels of wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) recombinant inbred lines. Plant J. 103, 279–292. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.14727.
- Shyamli, P.S., Rana, S., Suranjika, S., Muthamilarasan, M., Parida, A., Prasad, M., 2021. Genetic determinants of micronutrient traits in graminaceous crops to combat hidden hunger. Theor. Appl. Genet. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-021-03878-z.
- Singh, R.K., Prasad, A., Muthamilarasan, M., Parida, S.K., Prasad, M., 2020. Breeding and biotechnological interventions for trait improvement: status and prospects. Planta 252, 54. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-020-03465-4.
- Singh, R.K., Muthamilarasan, M., Prasad, M., 2021. Biotechnological approaches to dissect climate-resilient traits in millets and their application in crop improvement. J. Biotechnol. 327, 64–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2021.01.002.
- Suwarno, W.B., Pixley, K.V., Palacios-Rojas, N., Kaeppler, S.M., Babu, R., 2015. Genome-wide association analysis reveals new targets for carotenoid biofortification in maize. Theor. Appl. Genet. 128, 851–864. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-015-2475-3.
- Tang, S., Zhao, H., Lu, S., Yu, L., Zhang, G., Zhang, Y., Yang, Q.Y., Zhou, Y., Wang, X., Ma, W., Xie, W., Guo, L., 2021. Genome- and transcriptome-wide association studies provide insights into the genetic basis of natural variation of seed oil content in *Brassica napus*. Mol. Plant 14, 470–487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molp.2020.12.003.
- Tian, F., Bradbury, P.J., Brown, P.J., Hung, H., Sun, Q., Flint-Garcia, S., Rocheford, T.R., McMullen, M.D., Holland, J.B., Buckler, E.S., 2011. Genome-wide association study of leaf architecture in the maize nested association mapping population. Nat. Genet. 43, 159–162. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.746.
- Tripodi, P., 2021. Methods of development of biparental mapping populations in horticultural crops. Methods Mol. Biol. 2264, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-0716-1201-9_1.
- van Dijk, E.L., Jaszczyszyn, Y., Naquin, D., Thermes, C., 2018. The third revolution in sequencing technology. Trends Genet. 34, 666–681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig. 2018.05.008.
- Wang, C., Zeng, J., Li, Y., Hu, W., Chen, L., Miao, Y., Deng, P., Yuan, C., Ma, C., Chen, X., Zang, M., Wang, Q., Li, K., Chang, J., Wang, Y., Yang, G., He, G.,

2014. Enrichment of provitamin A content in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) by introduction of the bacterial carotenoid biosynthetic genes CrtB and CrtI. J. Exp. Bot. 65, 2545–2556. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/eru138.

- Wang, H., Xu, C., Liu, X., Guo, Z., Xu, X., Wang, S., Xie, C., Li, W.X., Zou, C., Xu, Y., 2017. Development of a multiple-hybrid population for genome-wide association studies: theoretical consideration and genetic mapping of flowering traits in maize. Sci. Rep. 7, 40239. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep40239.
- Wong, H.W., Liu, Q., Sun, S.S., 2015. Biofortification of rice with lysine using endogenous histones. Plant Mol. Biol. 87, 235–248. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11103-014-0272-z.
- Xiao, Y., Liu, H., Wu, L., Warburton, M., Yan, J., 2017. Genome-wide association studies in maize: praise and stargaze. Mol. Plant 10, 359–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molp. 2016.12.008.
- Yu, J., Pressoir, G., Briggs, W.H., Vroh Bi, I., et al., 2006. A unified mixed-model method for association mapping that accounts for multiple levels of relatedness. Nat. Genet. 38, 203–208. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1702.
- Zhang, P., Liu, X., Tong, H., Lu, Y., Li, J., 2014. Association mapping for important agronomic traits in core collection of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) with SSR markers. PLoS One 9, e111508. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0111508.
- Zhou, S., Kremling, K.A., Bandillo, N., Richter, A., et al., 2019. Metabolome-scale genome-wide association studies reveal chemical diversity and genetic control of maize specialized metabolites. Plant Cell 31, 937–955. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.18.00772.
- Zhu, C., Gore, M., Buckler, E.S., Yu, J., 2008. Status and prospects of association mapping in plants. Plant Genome 1, 5–20. https://doi.org/10.3835/plantgenome2008.02.0089.